**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

RECEIVED

Jun 30 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
In the Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Frank Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001865

State of South Carolina Respondent

v.

Terry Renee McClure Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mario A. Pacella
Matthew B. Robins
Strom Law Firm, LLC
6923 N. Trenholm Road, Suite 200
Columbia, SC 29206
(803) 252-4800
mpacella@stromlaw.com
mrobins@stromlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in admitting the redacted video of McClure's interrogation when the video contained numerous hearsay and burden-shifting statements?
2. Did the Circuit Court err in charging the jury on inferred malice when there was positive evidence of express malice in the record and McClure was charged with attempted murder?
3. Did the Circuit Court err in admitting Justin Butler's text messages as non-hearsay statements of a co-conspirator when there was no evidence of conspiracy and when McClure was not charged in any conspiracy?
4. Did the Circuit Court err in qualifying Officer Zwolak as an expert in "Street Culture, Language, and Slang?"
5. Did the Circuit Court err in refusing to allow McClure to question Tyvona Toland regarding her dismissed charges when such testimony constituted relevant evidence of potential bias and when the refusal caused actual prejudice to McClure in violation of his State and Federal rights to a speedy trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 25, 2016, Terry McClure was extradited from California to South Carolina and served with arrest warrants for the shootings of VonKeith and Tycus Toland. McClure was ultimately indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury for murder, attempted murder, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime.

On July 26, 2019, McClure filed a motion to dismiss his charges due to a violation of his state and federal rights to a speedy trial. On September 6, 2019, the circuit court held a hearing on the motion and denied the motion but permitted McClure to renew the motion at the start of trial. McClure's trial was conducted on October 21–25, 2019.

At the close of trial, McClure was found guilty of all charges. The circuit court sentenced McClure to life in prison for the murder conviction, and thirty-years' imprisonment for the attempted murder charge, with both sentences to run concurrently. This appeal follows.

FACTS

On April 26, 2014, VonKeith and Tycus Toland were shot at VonKeith's home in Pelion, South Carolina. (R. 156, 159, 170–72). VonKeith survived the shooting, but Tycus died on the scene. (R. 608). On July 25, 2016, Terry McClure was extradited from California to South Carolina and served with arrest warrants for the shootings. (R. 19). Several years after the alleged crime occurred, McClure was eventually indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury for murder, attempted murder, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. (R. 896–903).

On July 26, 2019, McClure filed a motion to dismiss his charges due to a violation of his state and federal rights to a speedy trial. (R. 3). A hearing on the motion was held on September 6, 2019, and the circuit court ruled that (1) McClure could renew his motions when his trial commenced on October 21, 2019, and (2) if McClure was not brought to trial by October 21, 2019, he would be released from pretrial detention on a personal recognizance bond. (R. 1, 13). The court ultimately conducted the trial on October 21–25, 2019. (R. 15).

Prior to the commencement of trial, McClure made several pretrial motions. First, McClure renewed his motion to dismiss his charges due to a violation of his speedy trial rights. (R. 17). The court denied the motion due in part to the court's determination that McClure could not demonstrate actual prejudice. (R. 27). However, the court indicated that its ruling was without prejudice, permitting McClure to renew the motion should he be able to demonstrate actual prejudice over the course of the trial. (R. 27).

Second, McClure moved to suppress the out-of-court identification made by VonKeith Toland, resulting in a *Neil v. Biggers*¹ hearing. (R. 34–71). VonKeith Toland testified that the

¹ 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

lead investigator on the case, Detective Roy Mefford, showed him a photo lineup two weeks after the incident while he was still recovering from his injuries in the ICU. (R. 52, 58). Notably, VonKeith further explained that he was on pain medication, but that it did not affect his memory or his understanding of what he was doing. (R. 57–58). After hearing all of the testimony and arguments related to the out-of-court identification, the circuit court concluded the identification was admissible. (R. 71).

Third, McClure moved to suppress the video of his interrogation, and the court conducted a *Jackson v. Denno*² hearing. (R. 73). During the hearing, the State offered the two officers from California who conducted McClure's interrogation. The first officer, Detective Brent Pucci, testified that he read McClure his *Miranda*³ rights and that McClure voluntarily waived those rights. (R. 73–83). The second officer, Detective Steven Trojanowski, testified that he actually conducted McClure's interrogation regarding a shooting that occurred in Pelion. (R. 85). On cross-examination, Detective Trojanowski conceded that none of the information he conveyed to McClure during his interrogation, including information regarding cell site location information, flight manifests, and VonKeith Toland's identification, was based on his own personal knowledge. (R. 97–99). Rather, Detective Trojanowski testified that all of the information forming the basis of his questions and statements during the interview was relayed to him by third parties, including Detective Mefford, McClure's girlfriend, and the phone technicians employed by the Fairfield Police Department. (R. 97–99). Additionally, Detective Trojanowski conceded that during the interrogation, he lied and made several unverified statements to McClure, including statements that (1) McClure's co-defendant, Justin Butler, was cooperating against McClure, (2) Detective

² 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

³ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Trojanowski was certain that McClure's DNA would be found on the scene, and (3) officers in South Carolina had McClure "locked in." (R. 98–99).

Following Detective Trojanowski's testimony, McClure argued that the video interrogation should be suppressed because it "was riddled with inadmissible hearsay statements" and contained numerous burden-shifting statements. (R. 101–03). The State argued the video interrogation should be admitted to provide context and to demonstrate McClure's demeanor and evasiveness. (R. 129–130). Additionally, the State argued that, under South Carolina law, Detective Trojanowski's questions did not constitute hearsay and his statements were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. (R. 130). In regard to the burden-shifting objection, the State argued that the statements in question constituted law enforcement tactics that were not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted. (R. 131). After hearing arguments from both parties, the circuit court indicated that it would review the video again before making a final determination. (R. 134).

Finally, McClure moved to suppress text messages in a text message log that were sent by a telephone belonging to Justin Butler. (R. 116–20). Butler was separately tried for the same alleged crimes as McClure. McClure conceded that text messages he sent would be admissible under Rule 801, SCRE, but argued that Butler's text messages constituted inadmissible hearsay and presented a Confrontation Clause issue because Butler could not be cross-examined about the statements at trial. (R. 116–18). The State argued that Butler's text messages were admissible as the statements of a co-conspirator in furtherance of a conspiracy. (R. 117–120). To establish the existence of a conspiracy, the State relied on Butler's status as a co-defendant, arguing, "I think we can fairly say that Justin Butler is a co[-]conspirator in this case because he is a co-defendant" (R. 120). The circuit court ultimately indicated that it would wait to rule on the admissibility of the text messages. (R. 120).

After opening arguments, the State called VonKeith Toland as its first witness. (R. 155). Before testifying about the shooting, VonKeith conceded that he had previously been convicted of two counts of drug trafficking. (R. 158). VonKeith then explained that Butler had contacted him about purchasing a car, and the two discussed Butler potentially purchasing an Infiniti. (R. 159–60). Later that day, Butler and a man VonKeith did not know well met up with VonKeith at his mother's house. (R. 160). While the two men played cards and sat with Toland's family, VonKeith left the house for a short period of time. (R. 160). When VonKeith returned, the two men indicated that they were ready to view the Infiniti and VonKeith asked his brother Tycus to come with him to VonKeith's house. (R. 160–61, R. 167).

When they arrived at the house, VonKeith showed the two men the Infiniti parked in the driveway of his mobile home, lifted up the hood to let the two men inspect the engine, and allowed them to take a test drive. (R. 167–68). After the test drive, Butler inspected the engine a second time while VonKeith, Tycus, and the other man had a conversation. (R. 169). VonKeith testified that when the conversation went stale, the man drew a gun from his waistband and shot Tycus in the head. (R. 170). VonKeith testified that he attempted to run from the man into the backyard, but the man shot him three or four times. (R. 171). VonKeith claimed that Butler and the other man proceeded to demand that VonKeith give up his drugs and money or they would kill him. (R. 172). VonKeith further claimed that after he told the men there was money in the home, they kicked through the glass door in the back and ransacked the home. (R. 172–73). VonKeith testified that while the men were in the house, he attempted to call 9-1-1 but the other man caught him and shot him three more times. (R. 173).

VonKeith claimed that after the men went back into the house, he crawled under his mobile home and hid behind one of the support pillars. (R. 174). VonKeith testified that after the two

men left, he waited five minutes before removing his shorts and crawling out of the front side of the mobile home to his car. (R. 175–76). Once he reached his car, he retrieved his other phone and called 9-1-1. (R. 176).

After recounting his version of the incident, VonKeith conceded that he initially lied to the police about his brother's possession of a stolen Dodge Challenger at the time of the incident. (R. 195–96). VonKeith further conceded that law enforcement found a firearm under his bed, but asserted that a shell casing found in the backyard was left after his fiancé fired the weapon on New Year's Eve. (R. 201–02, 206). VonKeith then testified that after the incident, he was unconscious in the hospital for roughly sixteen days and indicated that he was on pain medication and an IV when Detective Mefford presented him with a photo lineup on May 10, 2014. (R. 198, 204–05). VonKeith asserted that he was alert at the time he was presented with the lineup, and claimed that he identified McClure as the other man involved in the incident without any suggestion from law enforcement. (R. 205, 210). However, VonKeith subsequently testified, "I noticed someone else that that I knew, so that's how I kind of remembered the picture. Like I was - - I kind - - that kind of left me *because I was still mentally challenged . . .*" (R. 210) (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, VonKeith admitted that he did not know whether he asserted that the shell casing from his firearm found in the backyard was fired by his fiancé when he testified at a prior hearing in June of 2016. (R. 215). Additionally, despite claiming that he no longer sold or trafficked drugs, VonKeith was presented with text messages he received in January 2014 regarding the sale of marijuana and firearms. (R. 218–25). VonKeith further admitted that he did not tell law enforcement that Butler and the other man demanded money and drugs from him until January 2016. (R. 232). Finally, VonKeith admitted that the State granted him immunity from prosecution for possession of a stolen vehicle and felon in possession of a firearm. (R. 225, 240).

After VonKeith's testimony, the State called his sister Tyvona Toland to testify. (R. 244). Tyvona testified regarding two men she did not know or recognize arriving and spending time at her mother's house on the day of the incident. (R. 245–51). She also testified regarding her identification of Justin Butler on Instagram. (R. 256–57). After testifying on direct-examination, McClure requested to question Tyvona about her pending charges that were dismissed a month before Justin Butler's trial in June 2016. (R. 258–59). The State argued the charges were not admissible for any purpose, but McClure asserted that he should be allowed to question Tyvona about the charges as evidence of potential bias. (R. 259). After hearing the proffered testimony, the circuit court noted that the timing of the State's dismissal of the charges may have made the charges relevant in Butler's case, but concluded that McClure should not be allowed to solicit Tyvona's testimony regarding the charges. (R. 268–69).

Later in the trial, the State called Roger Gilland, a former crime scene investigator who responded to the scene of the incident. (R. 292–93). Gilland testified that he removed several shell casings from the scene, swabbed a reddish-brown stain on the handrail of the front porch for blood, and located VonKeith's firearm under the bed. (R. 295–316). Gilland also testified that he found a bag of marijuana in the shorts VonKeith discarded under the mobile home. (R. 318).

On cross-examination, Gilland testified that all of the shell casings found on the scene could have been fired by the gun under the bed, but indicated that he did not swab the gun for gunshot residue. (R. 334–35). Moreover, Gilland testified that he found a box of ammunition inside the house that was missing bullets. (R. 345). Gilland further testified that in addition to the marijuana found in VonKeith's shorts, he also found over \$1,000 in cash. (R. 342). Additionally, Gilland testified that there were no blood trails left in the sand around the home, nor any crawl marks leading from the front of the home to VonKeith's car. (R. 349–51). Gilland also testified

that officers did not find any fingerprints inside the home, nor did they collect any touch DNA from the home. (R. 353–54, 356).

Similarly, Keith Sprinkle, a former crime scene investigator at the Lexington County Sheriff's Office testified about the collection of evidence at the scene. (R. 362–63). Sprinkle testified that he did not observe any marks on the ground that would indicate someone had crawled, and did not see any blood trails. (R. 374). Additionally, Sprinkle testified that despite finding the gun under VonKeith's bed, officers were unable to find the corresponding magazine anywhere on the property. (R. 379). Sprinkle also testified that officers did not find any fingerprints inside the house. (R. 382).

The State also presented Lilly Gallman, a former DNA analyst at the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, as an expert in DNA analysis and interpretation. (R. 430–32). Gallman testified that the DNA profile developed from the blood swab taken from the handrail on the front porch matched the DNA profile of VonKeith Toland. (R. 440). Gallman also testified that after comparing the swabs taken from the house with McClure's DNA profile, she did not find McClure's DNA on any of the swabs. (R. 441).

The State called Roy Mefford, the lead detective in the case, to testify about the investigation. (R. 474). Detective Mefford explained how he used social media, phone records, cell site location information, and flight manifests to identify Butler and McClure as suspects. (R. 474–538). During Detective Mefford's direct-examination, McClure made a hearsay objection to Detective Mefford's testimony regarding Justin Butler's text messages consistent with the argument McClure made in his pre-trial motion to suppress the text messages. (R. 499, 502, 547). The objection was overruled, and the circuit court explained that it did not find the text messages to be hearsay because the messages were made in furtherance of a conspiracy. (R. 547–48).

On cross-examination, Detective Mefford testified that there were no blood trails or crawl marks around the home. (R. 558). Detective Mefford also testified that VonKeith's mother told 9-1-1 that a white man shot her son. (R. 565). Finally, Detective Mefford conceded that in the five and a half years between the incident and the trial, he never took a written statement from VonKeith about the incident. (R. 567).

During a break in the State's case, the circuit court again raised the issue regarding the motion to suppress the video of McClure's interrogation. (R. 591). The court indicated that after reviewing the video, its only concern was whether the interrogating officer asking McClure to explain himself constituted burden shifting. (R. 591–92). However, the court indicated that it was inclined to let the State publish a redacted version of the video because it believed McClure's demeanor was relevant, and because the video "corroborate[d] a lot of the State's theory." (R. 592–93).

In response, McClure renewed his objection, arguing that the entire video should be suppressed because it was riddled with inadmissible hearsay. (R. 593–94). The circuit court responded that even if the statements in the video did constitute hearsay, McClure's cross-examination of Detective Mefford alleviated any Confrontation Clause issues, rendering the statements admissible because "it[was] almost as if [Detective Trojanowski] step[ped] into the shoes of [Detective] Mefford." (R. 594). McClure further raised objections to the lies and false statements made by Detective Trojanowski during his interrogation of McClure. (R. 594–95). The Court responded that McClure could address any false statements made by Detective Trojanowski on cross-examination. (R. 595).

Finally, McClure argued that the video should be suppressed because Detective Trojanowski made several burden-shifting statements, and he identified several examples to the

court. (R. 595). First, McClure took issue with one of Detective Trojanowski's statements that McClure could "explain it or not." (R. 595). The circuit court responded that it did not see a problem with the statement because McClure had the right to remain silent. (R. 596). McClure also took exception to Detective Trojanowski asking him to explain how his cell site location information tracked the path of flights he took from California to Georgia and back. (R. 597–98). The circuit court responded that it believed the question to be a legitimate one. (R. 598). The circuit court ultimately ruled that the interrogation video could be published to the jury, but indicated that it would have to be redacted in the event the video was sent to the jury room. (R. 598–99).

Prior to the State calling its expert in forensic technology examination, the circuit court ruled that Justin Butler's text messages were admissible as non-hearsay evidence of conspiracy. (R. 663). After the ruling, the State offered Mike Phipps, a forensic technology examiner at the Lexington County Police Department, as an expert in forensic technology examination. (R. 668). During Phipps's testimony, the state moved the text message log, including Justin Butler's text messages, into evidence. (R. 701). On cross-examination, Phipps testified that he did not mark any conversations on VonKeith Toland's phone related to drug dealing or selling firearms. (R. 718). Additionally, Phipps indicated that an extraction of Tycus Toland's phone revealed an outgoing call at 1:35 p.m. on April 27, 2014, the day after Tycus' death. (R. 725).

Following Mike Phipps's testimony, the State sought to offer Officer Brian Zwolak as an expert in "street culture, language, and slang" to define certain words in the text message log. (R. 751). McClure objected, arguing, *inter alia*, that "street culture and language" was not an appropriate topic for expert testimony. (R. 752). The State and McClure then conducted *voir dire* of Officer Zwolak. (R. 753–771).

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