RECEIVED

Jul 06 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001865

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

TERRY RENEE MCCLURE,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney
General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

elaborations of the police theory of [victim]'s death, and references to [defendant]'s involvement in the crime” should have been redacted from tape and transcript because “[t]he questions and comments by [the detective] placed [defendant]'s answers in context”);

Castaneda, 715 S.E.2d at 294 (2011). In Lanham v. Com., 171 S.W.3d 14 (Ky. 2005), the Kentucky Supreme Court advised the admission of statements by the police that a defendant is lying should include a limiting admonition to the jury before its publication. Lanham, 171 S.W.3d at 28.

In State v. Boggs, 185 P.3d 111 (Az. 2008), the Arizona Supreme Court found the accusations by law enforcement that the defendant was lying were part of an ordinary interrogation technique, were not offered for the purposes of giving opinion testimony, and provided a necessary context for the defendant’s responses. Boggs, at 121. In State v. O’Brien, 857 S.W.2d 212 (Mo. 1993), the Missouri Supreme Court upheld an officer’s testimony in which he recalled accusing the defendant of lying during an interrogation. The court found that reading the testimony and challenged statement in their respective contexts, the admission was not error. O’Brien, at 221.

Moreover, the courts in Georgia have allowed latitude given police interview question that are admitted into evidence. Windhom v. State, 729 S.E.2d 25 (Ga. App. 2012), citing Axelburg v. State, 616, 669 S.E.2d 439 (Ga. App. 2008); DeYoung v. State, 493 S.E.2d 157 (Ga. 1997) (trial court did not err in denying a motion to suppress a statement obtained through police trickery or deceit); Carroll v. State, 408 S.E.2d 412 (Ga. 1991) (trial court, which redacted other portions of interview, did not abuse discretion in not redacting the interrogator's argumentative comments).

In the instant case, the trial judge, after performing the Rule 403 analysis, found the video with redactions admissible and fashioned an appropriate instruction preceding its publication to

the jury on how, as a matter of law, the jury was to consider the evidence. Trojanowski testified, before the jury, that he had no personal knowledge about the facts of the case and was using techniques, including lying, when interviewing Appellant. The trial judge instructed the jury on of the State's burden to prove every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt and told the jury the defendant was required to prove nothing. (R.p.862, line 5– R.p.868, line 22.) This instruction, combined with Trojanowski's disclaimer, properly protected Appellant's rights to Due Process. Because the video contained no impermissible hearsay and was not unfairly prejudicial, the jury, as the trier of fact, was entitled to view the relevant, probative, and contemporaneous representation of Appellant's statement to law enforcement. As a matter of policy, transparent police tactics should be encouraged.

The Brewer Court directed the trial courts to “be vigilant in redacting problematic portions of law enforcement's investigatory questions,” but did not create a “categorical rule that any statement by an investigator during an interrogation is inadmissible.” Brewer, at 407-408, 768 S.E.2d at 659. In fact, such a categorical rule would be improper and hamstringing the ability of the State to present compelling evidence of a defendant's guilt. Thus, the finding of admissibility is, correctly, a fact specific inquiry. In consideration of that language, the State redacted the video to exclude irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial portions of the interview. Accordingly, the trial judge properly allowed the admission of the recorded interview.

II.

The trial judge properly charged the jury on inferred malice pursuant to the law of South Carolina.

Appellant claims the trial judge's instruction in inferred malice was improper because there was “positive evidence” of Appellant's express malice to commit attempted murder.

However, the State disagrees with this assertion because, pursuant to South Carolina law, jury

instructions on inferred malice are appropriate for attempted murder when the presence and type of malice is a matter in dispute. Further, any alleged error in providing the instruction was harmless given State's evidence at trial.

Pursuant to Section 16-3-29 of the South Carolina Code: "A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, **either expressed or implied**, commits the offense of attempted murder." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2010) (emphasis added).

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in instructing the jury that it could "infer malice from conduct showing a total disregard for human life" because the instruction constituted an unnecessary judicial comment on the facts in the record and it lowered the State's burden of proof. Neither assertion is true. To support his first argument that the instruction was unnecessary, Appellant cites to State v. Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 845 S.E.2d 495 (2020) in which the Supreme Court ruled as such based on the facts of that case. Id. at 232–33, 845 S.E.2d at 498. However, Appellant fails to recognize the critical difference between Smith and his own case: in Smith, the defendant claimed self-defense but admitted he had an express intent to kill, meaning the issue was uncontested by the parties and, as explained by the court, "an implied malice charge was wholly unnecessary to the jury's decision. See id. at 233, 845 S.E.2d at 498. Such is not the case in the instant case because Appellant contests his guilt and participation in the crime. Because malice was not an undisputed question for the jury, the implied malice charge was appropriate.

Furthermore, the jury charge did not lessen the burden of proof necessary to convict Appellant; the charge is entirely consistent with State law. In the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29, chosen by the Legislature, the State could prove malice aforethought through either expressed or implied malice. No case law in South Carolina has provided for a blanket

disallowance of an implied malice charge; the only case law finding implied malice charges inappropriate involves versions of the charge stating malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 610, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009) (“Under our policy-making role in the common law, we hold that the ‘use of a deadly weapon’ implied malice instruction has no place in a murder (or assault and battery with intent to kill) prosecution where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the killing (or the alleged assault and battery with intent to kill).”). In that opinion, the Court did **not** prevent the application of **any** implied malice charge in every situation; it barred the use of a very specific implied malice instruction, which was **not** requested in this case. Additionally, this Court cannot simply ignore the statute for attempted murder and its allowance of implied malice. See Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (“An appellate court cannot construe a statute without regard to its plain meaning and may not resort to a forced interpretation in an attempt to expand or limit the scope of a statute.”).

Regardless, any alleged error was necessarily harmless. An erroneous instruction alone is insufficient to warrant this Court's reversal. “Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis.” Belcher, 385 S.C. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809. “When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must ‘determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.’” State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (quoting State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)). “In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” Id. (quoting Kerr, 330 S.C. at 145, 498 S.E.2d at 218). In the instant case, there is no possibility the disputed language could

have impacted the jury's verdict. VonKeith was shot numerous times as he attempted to flee from Butler and Appellant following the latter's execution of his brother. He was shot again as he tried to use a cellular phone and call for help, which Appellant took from him. Ultimately, he only survived because he was able to hide under his home while Appellant and Butler attempted to cover up their crimes by stealing his surveillance equipment. The only reasonable interpretation of Appellant's actions was that he intended to murder VonKeith that day. Accordingly, any alleged error in the use of the inferred malice charge must be harmless. See Middleton, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435.

III.

The trial judge correctly allowed admission of the codefendant's text messages as non-hearsay statements because there was separate evidence of the conspiracy between the codefendant and Appellant.

Appellant claims the trial judge improperly allowed for the admission of codefendant's text messages to Appellant. The State disagrees with this allegation because the State provided separate evidence of the conspiracy between Appellant and Butler.

Pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(E), SCRE, "[a] statement is not hearsay if . . . [t]he statement is offered against a party [opponent] and is . . . a statement by a coconspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy. "A conspiracy is a combination or agreement between two or more persons for the purpose of accomplishing a criminal or unlawful object, or of achieving by criminal or unlawful means an object that is neither criminal nor unlawful." State v. Sims, 377 S.C. 598, 606, 661 S.E.2d 122, 126 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff'd*, 387 S.C. 557, 694 S.E.2d 9 (2010) (internal quotations and citations omitted). "The essence of a conspiracy is the agreement." State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 323, 555 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2001). It must be shown that the defendant is connected to the conspiracy and "intended to act together [with at

least one other] for their shared mutual benefit within the scope of the conspiracy charged.” State v. Sims, 377 S.C. at 607, 661 S.E.2d at 126 (internal quotations and citations omitted). An overt act is not required. Id. at 606, 661 S.E.2d at 126. Neither is proof of an express agreement. Buckmon, 347 S.C.at 323, 555 S.E.2d at 405. Also, “direct evidence is not essential, but the conspiracy may be sufficiently shown by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.” Id. Conspiracy “may be proven by the specific overt acts done in furtherance of the conspiracy but the crime is the agreement.” Id.

In the instant case, Butler’s text messages were admissible as statements of a coconspirator pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(E), SCRE. This rule categorizes statements made by a coconspirator “during the course of and in furtherance of the conspiracy” as non-hearsay. Rule 801(d)(2)(E), SCRE. Coconspirator communications are admissible as non-hearsay so long as the statement advances the conspiracy and so long as there exists additional independent evidence of the conspiracy. State v. Gilchrist, 342 S.C. 369, 372, 536 S.E.2d 868, 869 (2000). Despite Appellant’s claims to the contrary, the State presented evidence independent of the text messages that Butler was Appellant’s conspirator in the crime. First and foremost, VonKeith’s testimony linked Appellant and Butler as willing coparticipants in the crime: VonKeith testified Butler contacted VonKeith about the vehicle and scheduled the test drive/inspection of the Infinity; both men showed up to his mother’s home; and after Appellant executed Tycus, Butler retrieved a gun of his own and both men burglarized the home while VonKeith lay bleeding on the ground. VonKeith’s testimony is convincing evidence of Butler’s willing participation in the crime. See Buckmon, 347 S.C. at 323, 555 S.E.2d at 405 (“The essence of a conspiracy is the agreement.”) Other circumstantial evidence only confirmed this testimony: VonKeith’s family members all confirmed Appellant and Butler were the men who visited that day; cell phone

location data confirmed the codefendants met up in Atlanta and traveled together to South Carolina; and Ellis even testified that Appellant arranged for her to pick up Butler from the Greyhound bus station in Atlanta. Accordingly, the direct and circumstantial evidence presented at trial—independent of Butler’s text messages—proved the existence of a conspiracy and justified the admission of Butler’s text messages into evidence. See Buckmon, 347 S.C.at 323, 555 S.E.2d at 405; Gilchrist, 342 S.C. t 372, 536 S.E.2d at 869.

IV.

The trial judge properly qualified Officer Zwolak as an expert in “street culture, language, and slang.”

Appellant argues the trial judge improperly qualified Zwolak as an expert in “street culture, language, and slang.” The State asseverates that the trial judge acted within his discretion in qualifying Zwolak because the latter provided ample evidence of his qualifications and the reliability of his testimony which, in turn, provided probative value outweighing any potential unfair prejudice to Appellant.

Rule 702, SCRE, provides that:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

“The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's discretion.” Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997). “There is no exact requirement concerning how knowledge or skill must be acquired.” Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 530, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988) (citation omitted). In determining a witness's qualifications as an expert, the trial court should not have a solitary focus, but rather should make a broad inquiry. Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416

S.C. 541, 567, 787 S.E.2d 498, 511 (2016), *reh'g den.* (July 13, 2016). “The test for qualification of an expert is a relative one that is dependent on the particular witness's reference to the subject.” Wilson v. Rivers, 357 S.C. 447, 452, 593 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2004). Any “defects in the amount or quality of education or experience go to the weight of the expert's testimony and not its admissibility.” State v. Robinson, 396 S.C. 577, 586, 722 S.E.2d 820, 825 (Ct.App.2012).

The Supreme Court has explained that:

In determining whether to admit expert testimony, the court must make three inquiries. First, the court must determine whether “the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” . . . Second, the expert must have “acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter,” although he “need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field.” . . . Finally, the substance of the testimony must be reliable. . . . It is this final requirement of reliability which is the central feature of the inquiry.

Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc., 401 S.C. 63, 74–75, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012).

Zwolak’s Qualifications as an Expert

As an initial matter, the State asseverates that Appellant’s objections to Zwolak’s qualifications are not preserved for Appellate review. During the trial, counsel did not object to Zwolak’s testimony on the basis of his educational background or experience. Instead, trial counsel’s objections focused on the reliability of the testimony and whether the subject matter was outside the ordinary knowledge of jurors. In fact, Appellant’s trial arguments contradict his current challenge of Zwolak’s qualifications: he repeatedly emphasized that Zwolak’s expertise was not needed because the jurors spoke English and did not need someone to define words from their native tongue.⁶ Accordingly, because Appellant did not object to Zwolak’s education and

⁶ See (R.p.752, lines 13–21) (“This is not a foreign language, it’s a language they understand, so they’ll know the words. They don’t need anybody to tell them what the words mean because the words are in English. It’s not like we’ve got somebody interpreting a foreign language”); (R.p.759, lines 14–19) (“We still don’t feel that this is appropriate testimony and we think the

experience at trial, this portion of his issue is not preserved for Appellate review. See, e.g., State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”)

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